
BEFORE THE
DEPARTMENT OF CORPORATIONS

STATE OF CALIFORNIA

In the Matter ofTHE CALIFORNIA
CORPORATION S COMMISSIONER, OAH No.: L2007090318

Complainant,
v.

MONTEREY BAY SECURITIES,INC.
and KENNETH DOOLITILE, President.

Respondents.

DECISION

The attached Proposed Decision of the Administra tive Law Judge of the Office of

Administrative Hearings, dated February 15, 2008, is hereby adopted by the Department

of Corporations as its Decision in the above-entitled matter with the following technical

and minor changes pursuant to Government Code Section 11517(c)(2)(C).

1) In the first line of Legal Conclusions number 6 on page 15 of the Proposed

Decision: add ".241" after "section 260".

2) In the second line of Legal Conclusions number 21 on page 26 of the

Proposed Decision: "252401" should be "25401".

This Decision shall become effective on - - = o::t--""'-f-..e:::=- - - - -

IT IS SO ORDERED this 1.1"" day of ----'~='__UX>=.e,~ _

CALIFORNIA CORPORATIONS COMMISSIONER

Preston DuFauchard
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BEFORE THE
DEPART!vIENT OF CORPORATIO, 'S

STATE OJ' CAl.IFO RNIA

In the Matter of:

OAH No. 20070<)03 1X
rur CAI,IFORNIA CORPORATIONS
COMMISSIONER,

Complainant.

\' .

MONTEREY BAY SECUIUTIES. INC.
and KENNETH DOOLITTLE. President.

Responden ts.

PROPOS ED DECISI O l"

Administrative Law Judge Mary-Margaret Anderson, Office of Administrative
Hearings. State or California. heard this matter in Oakland. California. on September 24 and
~5. November 19. 20 and 21. and De cember 12 an d 13. 2007.

Joan I~. Kerst. Senior Corporations Counsel. represen ted Complainant Preston
Dul -auchard. Commission er of the Cal iforni a Department of Corporations.

Respondent Kenneth Doo littl e. President. represented himself and Respondent
Monterey Ray Securities . Inc.

The rec ord was left open unti l January 17. 2008. to receive written closing argument
in accordance with a briefing schedule. Complai nant's closing brie r wa s received an d
marked for idcnti ficati on as Exhibit :12. Respondents closing brie r was due January 10.
~()OX. however. no oriel" or other communication from Respondents was received .
According ly. Com plainant did not file c reply br ief

The record closed on January 17. 20CH';'
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FACTUAl. FIN DING S

1. Since.' 19X4 Kenneth Doolittle (Respondent) has served as the president and as
the financial and operations principal or Respondent Mo nterey Bay Securities. Inc. (MBS). u
California corporation. Respon dent is MBS ' s sole shareholder and he completely controls
the company.

The Department of Corporat ions (Department) regu lates broker-dealers and other
persons who work in the sec urities industry in Californ ia. On May 1J. 19S5. the
Cor porat ions Commissioner issue d a bro ker- dea ler cert ificate to MBS .

2. Respondent also formed Monterey Bay Investment Corporation (MHIC) and
acts as its president. In 1986 the Commissioner issued MBI C an investment advisor
certi ficate . Th e certificate wa s revo ked in 2000. Respondent did not inform cl ients or
investors thaI his investment advisor certificate had been revoked.

A Department examiner observed business cards identi fying MUle as an investm en t
advisor in Rcspondents office during a regu latory examination on June II. 2002. By lett er
dated Sept ember 9. 2002. Respondent wac; di rected to provi de wr itten assurance that he
would no longer usc such business cards. Resp ondent provided this assurance by letter da ted
May 6. 2003 . He explained that the delay was due to a flood in his office.

3. For approximately five years end i~ in October 2005. Respondent conducted
business [rom an office located at II Seascape Village, Aptos. He moved thereaft er 10 Idaho
where he now resides. but he sti ll maint ains a post office box in Aptos to receive m ail
conc erning his California bus iness interests . In additi on. Respondent currently employs a
part-time bookkeeper who works at another location in Aptos.

4. Responden t has worked in the securities industry for over 2G years. He was
with the Dean Witter firm approximate ly four years before he len to begin his ow n firm.
Respondent explains tha t he formed MBS to deal in securities and MBi C to he a holding
company and also to conduc t other businesses . MBI C was also licensed as an insurance
brok er in Californ ia. In add ition, Respondent held a federal firea rms dealer license from
1996 until 2005.

5. Respondent has held several California Department of Real Estate licenses.
lie provided copies of two current licenses. An Officer License in the name of Monte rey
Bay Securities Inc. Kenneth Mark Doolittle, Officer. was issued March ~5. 2005. and carries
an expiration date of March 24. 2009. A Bro ker License in the name of Kenneth Mark
Doolittle. fict itious business name Recycled I lousing. was issued Murch 25. 2005. and
carries an expiration date of March 24. 200<).
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6. On Septembe r 14, 2005. Respondent and his wife Mari lyn Doolittle fil ed
Bankruptcy Petition Number 05-55696 (Chapter 7) with the United States Bankruptcy Court
in tin: Northern District of Cal ifornia/San Jos e.

On December 10, 2007. the Co urt entered a decision gran ting the trus tee's motion for
summary judgment and denyi ng discharge . The basis for the order was Respon den t"s
vlohulon or a pre vious co urt order to turn over asse ts and his fail ure to provide "an
account ing ufal l res idua ls and co mm issions collected hy MB IC and sums coll ected from the
mob ile hom e notes."

AI'I'I.ICATION FOR NEW MOBILE IIOME SAI.I'S EICENSE

7. In March 2005 Respondent applied to the Department of Housing and
Community Development (HCD) for a manufactured ho me dealer ' s license. This license is
requi red for the sale of new manufactured homes. (A used hom e may be so ld witho ut such a
liccnsc.j A tempo rary permi t was issue d for 120 days wit h an exp irati on date of July 22.
2005. In the intervening period. HeD empl oyee Angela Torrens conducted an investigati on.
On July 18. 2005, the agency notifi ed Respond ent that h is application was denied.

There were severa l reasons for the denial. The application requires discl osure or all
judgme nts entered against the applicant in the previous five years. Re spondent deni ed
having any such judgments, however, a search of court records revealed that this was not
true. A judgment was entered against Respondent in Santa Clara County in October or
November of 2004. And, after Responden t submitted th e application. aj udgment was issued
on May 16. 2005. against Respon den t in Santa Cruz Co unty for $600 ,000. In addition,
Torrens noted that the Department had rece ive d numerous complaints conc erning
Respo ndent during the time he operated pursuant to the tem porary permit.

CURRENT DEI'ARTMENT ACTION

8, Licensed investment advisers and broker-dealers in Cal ifomiu an: subjec t to
the provisions ofCorporations Co de section 25000. ct seq. and correspond ing regu lati ons .

9. On January 2. 2007. the Co mmissioner issue d a Desist and Refrai n Order to
Respondents alleging violations or Co rporations Code sections 25 110, 25230 and 2540 1.

On April 22.2007. the Commissioner issued an Accusation seeking to revoke MBS's
broker-dealer cert ificate and bar Respondent fro m employment. mana gement. or control 01"
<.Iny broker-dealer or investment advisor.

On Aug ust 9. 2007 . the Comm issioner issued. pursuant to Corpora tions Code sec tion
25252, a Statement in S upport ofan Order Levying Administrative Pena lties and C laim for
Ancillary Rclicluguinst Respondents.
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10. in summary. the Commiss ioner now seeks re vocation of MllS 's broker-de aler
certi ficate. an order harring Respondent from the securities indus try. affi rmation of the
Commissioner's Des ist and Refrain Order. adminis trative penalties. and anci llary relief
incl uding restit ution. MilS and Resp ondent tim ely filed notic es or defense and requested an
administra tive hcarine-conccrninu- the Commis sioner 's actions. Th is hea ring- followed.

NilSI> VIOLilTIONS

11. Corp orations Code se ction ~5212 provides that Ca lifornia licensees must
con form to laws and regula tions promulgated by the Nation al Association or Secur it ies
Dea lers (NASD). NASD maintains the records o r rcgisrcrcd represe ntatives and principals in
its Central Registration IJcpcsi tory (C Rr)). Respondent' s e RO number is 1017937.

1~. On May 6. 1997. NA Si) filed a complaint agains t Respondent and MBS for
four securi ties violat ions. On .July 9. 1998. the NAS D National Adjudicat ory Council iss ued
a final order censuring Responden t and MBS and requir ing Resp ond en t 10 take an
exa mination to rc-qualify as a financi a l and operations principal. The mos t serious violat ion
concerned net capi ta l requi rements. Respond ent did not in form any clients or investors o f
the N;\SD action.

13. On Ju ly 26 . 200? NASD filed a complaint against Respon dent and M il S. T he
Co mplaint notes that Responden t and MRS withdrew from membership in NA SD in
Septem ber ~00 5: however. NASD had initiated an invest igat ion in November 2004 and
accordingly retained jurisdict ion. The Co mplaint was reso lved by settlement on November
4.2007. T he settl ement incl udes a finding that Respondent willfully omi tted a material fact
on a Form lJ-4. Th e ma terial fact was that he was charged with a felony in the San Mateo
Co unty Superior Court, As a res ult. Respond ent was required to file an amended Form U-4
tha t disclosed the pending felony charge and he did not do so.

PREVIOUS DEPilRTMENT ilCTION

14. On Ocloner 17,2005. the Co mmissioner served upon Ml jS and Resp ondent an
Order imposing Condition on Surrender of Cert ifica te as Broker-Dealer purs uant to
Corporat ions Code section 25242. subdivision (a). The condi tions were:

I . MilS shall respond to all letler(s) of inqui ry from the
Commissioner;

2. MBS shall make avai lab le for review. examination, and
investigation by the Commiss ioner all hooks and records,
including, hut n01 limited to, accounts, correspondence,
memoranda. papers. hook s. and all other records requ ired by the
California Corporations Code section 2524 1 and California
Code of" Regulations . sections 260 .241 and 26 0.241 . 1:
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3. The su rren der 01" the broker-dealer certificate shall not be
acc epted until the Comm iss ioner has finished its review.
examination. and investigation of MBS and unt il the
commissioner makes a determi nation and/or init iat es an action;
and

4. MBS provi des the Com m ission er with the name of a co ntact
person for the finn Iand I a phon e num ber and an address where
the contact person wh o wi ll have custody 01" the [inn s hooks and
records Iis located ].

In addition, the Co mmiss ione r required Respondent to provide a ll records of
co mp laints from investo rs and other persons who have transacted bus iness with MBS an d
Respondcm. a list of con tact information for all persons who ha ve transacted business with
MilS; hank account statements re lated to MRS and the names an d addr esses of all entities
affiliated with MBS and Respondent.

15. MBS and Respondent did not comply with the conditions for surrender;
accordingly. the broker-dealer certificate remains in effect.

BOOKS AND RECORDS REQUIREMENTS

16. MBS and Res pondent failed to provide the requis ite books an d records in
response 10 the Commissioner's Order of October 17.2005.

17. Respondent bro ught some records to the hearing on the last few days. Brian
Gazvini. Sen ior Exami ner. Securities Regu lat ion Division. Broker-Dealer Advisor Sect ion.
exam ined the documents. l..Ir did not locate the foll ow ing documents, which arc required to
be ma intained: a co mplaint file ; ban k statements for 200 ! unti l October 2003 ; annua l reports
for 2005 or 2006; quarterly reports for 2005; new account forms; and updated clien t
information.

In add ition. if a broke r-dealer is conducting another business. ha s suffered a civ il
judgment or has filed for bankru ptcy. he or she must inform the Departmen t. Respond ent did
not inform the Department that he was conducting another bus in ess (F indings 18 through
22). suffered a civiljudgment (Finding 29). and that hc filed for bankruptcy (Finding (J) .

RESPONDENrs BUSINESS CONCERNING MA NUFACTURED HO MES

18. In 1997 Respondent started a busi ness involving th e purchase . re modeling. and
sale o f manufactured hom es. Ile co nduc ted this busi ness in association with J '<1I'1")' Kroeke r.
a genera l cont ractor who was exp erienced in rem odeling tha t ty pe ofhome. Kro eker. w ho
conducte d busine ss as Mobil e Rcp o. Inc.. would locate the homes. o ften throu gh notices 01"
foreclos ure. Kroe ker hired and paid other contr actors and workers to m ake an )' needed
repairs. There is a lease in the record for all o ffice at I I Seascape Vill age. A ptos. for the
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term of M ay 1.2004. through April 30. 2007. The tenants are identified as Respondent and
Mobile Rcpo. Inc .. and Respondent and Kroe ke r each signed the lease. They a lso each
employed a hook keeper.

It appears that Respond ent was responsible for certain financi al aspects or the
business. l ie supplied most o f the funds for the repairs . Whether Resp ondent and Kroeker
had a formal business relat ionship was not established. hut it is c lear that the re was a
rcl.uioushi p o f' som e sor t. 1 lt is also clear that animos ity now exists bet ween the men and
that the relationship dissolved.

19. BeLween 1997 and 2005 Respondent bought and sold more than 500
manufactured homes. Although so me were sold outright to buyers . the vast majority were
so ld with seller-provided financ ing. Responden t obtained the funds for the fin ancing by
so lici ting potential investo rs. Some of the investors were clients of M BS and s ome were not.
Respondent advertised for investors in a loca l newspape r and on a website he creat ed entitled
rccy cledhousing.com. lie called the investment the " Re cycled Hous ing Manu factured llomc
Promissory Note Program" (RJ-I Note Program). Respondent represented that investors
wou ld rec eive betwe en 11 and 15 percent interest.

One newspap er adv ertisement cites a 13 percent yield on "Affordable I lous ing 1st
Mortgage NOles" offered by Recycled Housing at the Ap tos address. A nother ad verti sement
cites an 11 percent y ield on a .. Ist T rust Deed on Local Properties" offered by MBS at the
Aptos address. 'This ad also contains the following stateme nt": " Full y Secured. Various
Maturi ties . Receive Monthly Payments, Low Minimum Inve stment, E ligible for IRAs &
Retireme nt Plans" and "Gel Pai d Like the Bank ." A Department of Real Estate License is
ident ified at the bottom of each ad. It appears the ads ran on various dates in 2 004 and 2005.

20. Responde nt published a booklet ent itled Recycl ed Hou s ing Man u fa ct ured
Horn e Promissory Note Mor tgage Program. The bookle t is au thore d by " Kenneth Dool itt le.
Chief Financ ial O fficer" an d describes the investm ent program in fairly simple terms.
Similar information was also available on the internet at rccyclcdhous ing .com as recently as
June 23. 2005. The book let references a sec ond document, the Private O fferi ng
Memorandum. In evidence is a vers ion dat ed June 1, 2003. It is 27 pages long and a 15·
page sample I.oan Purchase Agreement is attached. The introductory paragraph to the
Memorandum states in pertinent part as follows:

Recycled Housing ("Rlr) is a fictitious business name of
Kenneth Doolittle. a licensed Cal iforn ia Real Estate Broker and
V ice Presiden t or Mobile Rcpo, Inc. (" MRI"). a Nevada
corporat ion licensed as a Mobile llomc Dea ler and Ge neral

Although Kroeker testified at hear ing, hi!' entire testimony was stricken from the record
following Ill !'> statements that he had lied while under oath 111 another proceeding and that there was no
rC.ISOIlIo believe that he would 11 0 1 lie in this one.
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Co ntrac tor in California. RH and MRI conduct business
operations in the acqui sition o lmobilc and man ufacture d hom es
thai mos t often requi re repa ir and/or remodel ing co nstruc tion
work . performing such work an d subseq uentI) reselling the
homes acc omp anied by moderate length perm anent mortgage
fi nanci ng co ntracts (the "Loans" ] to horne buyers (the
"B orrowers" ) for their own personal usc . RH and MRI expect
to earn a profit from the sa le o f each home in addition to any
interest and Ices derived from providi ng Loans to Borro wers.
RI-l is offering to qua lified investors ent ire notes and fractional
interests in Promissory NOles that arc secured by 1:1 first lien of
title. deed of trust, or mo rtgage (in an y case, <J "Fi rst Lien")
encumbering mobile or manufactured home!'! as personal or re al
property loc ated wit hin Cal ifornia. Nevada, Utah or Arizona.

2 I. Respondent deposited inv estor funds into a bank account that he m ainta ined
entitled the Manufactured Ho mes Trust A ccount. Respon dent was the sole signatory on th is
account. The fund s could be in this account for days up to several months and did not earn
interest during that time. Respondent would decide which fund s would be assigned to which
notes. Sometimes Respondent would assign fund s to one note then change them to another
one.

Responden t serviced the notes. Buyers would make principal and interest payments
to him on behalf of the indi vidual investor. If the bu yer failed to make payments, the mobile
ho rne might be foreclo sed. In that case. Respondent would arrange for all necessary work to
he performed to enable the horne to be sold to a different buyer. During that time, the
investor was not paid,

22. Respondent mainta ined at the hearing that his RI-I Note l' rogram was
con ducted under the ficti tious business name of Recycled Housing and in his capac ity as a
licensed real estate broker and that the no tes an.' no l securit ies. In a letter dat ed-J uly 20,
2005, however. he wrote to a NASD examiner: " IU-I acts as an issu er, and ofIcrs these notes
a!'! privately offered securit ies without havi ng them go through the books and records o f
IMilS I· Thi s fact has ne ver been hidden from the NASIJ and has been th is way since RH
sta rted in the mobile hom e.' bus ines s in 1997." Respon dent thus admitted that the n otes
constitute "privately offer ed securities:'

SElHTEIJ INt JlVIDlJAl.lNVESTORS IN TilE 1(11 NOTE PROGRAM
EN~IJ I NA NADlNI: JACOBS

21. l. ncdina Nadine Jacobs initia lly met Respon dent ill 1lJX4 wh en Respondent
worked for Dean Witter. She became his cl ient and established a 403B retireme nt p lan wi th
that firm. In approximately 19X7. Respondent co ntacted her an d tol d her that he was sta rt ing
his own firm and asked if she wo uld like to in ves t with him . Respondent in vested som e or
Ja cobs's money in an Oppenheimer fund and later sold her an an nui ty. When the annu ity
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mat ured. Jacobs transferred the funds into the 40J B account she still maintained at Dean
Willer.

24. In 2001 Responden t called and told Jacobs that be wanted to show her a new
investment opportunity. On Septe mber 21. 200 I. Jacobs met with Respondent in his office.
I Ic told her about the Recycled Housing Note Program. and recommended that she place all
of her 403B funds into the program. Respondent told Jacobs it was like being a lender. I-Ie
told her that she was not making any money in the money market account. that she could
make up to 15 percent on the investment, and thai he woul d handl e everyth ing. Whcn Jacobs
asked her what could go wrong, Respondent told her "we can repossess it and sel l it to
someone else" and that "nothing cou ld go wrong:' Respondent told her further information
would he coming. (This did not occ ur until 2003. when he gave her written information
concerning his Recycled I lousing busincss.)

Jacobs did not understand all o f the details of vhow it was going 10 hap pen:'
None theless . she turned over $132.000 to Respondent and signed paperwork tha t Respondent
asked her to sign. Jacobs felt pressured - she "thought it had to be done that day." At the
time, Jacobs believed that her money would be placed with a trust company unti l there was a
buyer and that she would be "d ealt with pers onall y" and ad vised a" the investment
progressed. When a buyer was located. Jacobs would recei ve a promissory note and regular
payments. Respondent would receive one percent interest as his fee and she would cam 15
percent. Instea d. "the very next month it was gone," She now unde rstands that she had
authorized the immediate transfer of the funds to Respondent. Jacobs trusted Respondent
hecause of his past advice to her and his expertise and experience.

25. During the meet ing, Respondent directed Jacobs La sign numerous documents.
including one that established a self-directed IRA account with the Trust Company of
America (TCA); transfer instructions that authori zed the tra nsfer of the 4031 ~ funds from
Dean Witter to the new account with TCA; and a letter addressed to Te A author izing the
transfer of $ 132.000 to Respondent. On October J9. 200 I. Respondent transferred $ 132.000
from the Te A acco unt to his Mobile l Iome Trust Account. Jacobs never received any
prom issory notes.

26. In 2002. Jacobs turned 70 and one-half years old. On December 31. 2002 .
Respo ndent delive red a minimum distribut ion payment of $5.)48 to Jacobs at her home.
This followed a telephone cal l from Jacobs's uccoumanr to Respondent. In 2003 Resp ondent
transferred $4.R43 to Jacob s. No subsequent distributions were made . Other than these
payments. Jacobs received no return on her investment and Respondent has not returned the
principal.

27. After investing, Jacobs met with Respondent three times in his office in an
attempt to discover what had happened to her money. When she went hy hcrscl f,
Respondent talked only about his ow n financial and legal problems. Jacobs subsequent ly
took her accountant with her and. on another occasion. her daugh ter and her so n. Even with
assis tance. she was unable to obtain satisfactory answers to her questions.



On July 1. :W05. Respondent provided Jacobs with a letter acknowledging his debt to
her and his failure to assign notes to her. J Ic advises that he has spent her mon ey "on
expenses related to the homes." Jacobs had no idea that her money co uld be or would be
used ill such a fashion. Respondent a lso wro te: " I give you my solemn word that I will do
everything in my po wer to sec you repai d in full. "

Jacobs contacted the Department after see ing on e of Rcspondcnts adve rtisements in
till' lnculncwspapcr. Shc was surprised to sec that he was advertising when she ha d not yet
been paid.

The last tim e Jacobs ca lled Respondent ' s office, she was told that he liv ed in Idah o
and given the telephone number. Jacobs ca lled and Respondent told her tha t he was in
bankruptcy and that she would have to go to th e bankruptcy court for relief.

28. Respondent ' s testimony regarding the Jacobs investment was confus ing and
contradictory. He insiste d that her funds had been used to purchase homes but cou ld no t
remem ber which ho mes .

- I.OWEI.L E. LEWIS

29. Lowell E. Le wis met Respondent when they became next-door ne igh bors in
1986. They also went to the same church. When Lewis died in 20 02 his daughter Marth a
Lewis became the trustee of his trust. Martha L ewis discovered tw o canceled checks in
Lewis's files made payab le to Respondent' s M obi le Home Trust Account: one for $150.000
(dated August 4. 2000) and one for $25 .000 (dated January 23 , 2002). She and her hushand
contac ted Respondent to find out what the checks were for.

Respondent told Martha Lew is and her husband tha t the checks were for Lew is's
investment in his RlJ Note Program and that pa yments had stopped due to Respondent's
financia l difficulties.

Murtha Lewis. on behalf of the Lewis Fa mily Trust. sued Respondent an d MBS for
various causes of' ac tion based upon Lewis's investme nt with Respondent. includ ing e lder
abuse. On Janu ary 6. 2005. the court awarded judgment for approximately $600,000. The
award included a sum designated as pu nitive da mages . Martha Le wis testified that she has
received approximately $43.000. On July J4 . :2005. an Acknowledgment of Full Satisfaction
01" Judgment was filed that states the cred itor ha s accepted payment other than th at speci fied
in tht" judgment in full satis fact ion thereof.

.II\C·()l JI\J,YN M ()N ' J "(; ( )M J ~f{ Y

30. Jucqualyn Montgomery and her lather mel Respondent in the m id- I99()'s.
Respondent told them thai he was ureal csuuc broker an d a reg ist ered investment ad visor.
They each invested in a condomin ium proj ect that Res pondent was involved in and were paid
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in full on that investment. Subsequently. Resp ondent told Montgomery and her father that he
had mobile homes to sell und that if they inves ted with him they would ea rn 15 percent
int erest. Montgome ry and her fat her chose 10 part icipate.

Respondent never pro vided a prospectus to Mon tgome ry. She did rece ive promissory
notes/security agreements on all but thelast of her investments: however. Respondent' s
name was on title as ow ner.

3 1. On f-ebruary 25, 200 2. Respond ent invested $ 11J 2(l.49 of Mon tgomery ' s
money in a mobile home purch ased by Ram on and Raquc! Martinez. On Octo her 29.2004 .
Responden t inves ted $11 ,835. 13 of Montgomery' s mo ney in a mobile home purchased hy
Gary and Maria Folkerts. The last intere st payment Montgomery received on these notes
was on May L 2006.

After pay me nts stopped Montgomery complained frequently to Respond ent. At one
po int. Respondent told Montgomery tha t "some woman had sued [him ] an d tha t three months
o f [Montgomery ' s] payments had come out to pay her." In his test imony , Respondent sa id
that at some point he told Montg omery tha t the borrowe rs on her note had made pay ments
since she had last been paid. bu t that the funds were being used to pay an attorney.

- .I DE P~RD LJ E

32. Joe Perdue met Resp onden t in th e late 1990·s. Perdue pur chase d insurance 1'0 1'

his mobi le home from Respondent. In early 200 0 Perdue tw ice invested $50. 000 with
Responden t to he used to fix up and sell mo bile homes. Accordi ng to l 'crducs son Keith.
th is was app roximately all of Perdue ' s savings, Perdue is retired and supports himsel f with
social security income and a small union pension.

Respondent sent letters to Perdue dated February 18 and February 21, 2 000,
respectively. acknowledgi ng rece ipt of the monies "to he use d for the purchase and sale of
mobi lchomcs." For each of the $50.000 investments. Respondent stated tha t he wo u ld pay
"an interest rate of 15% AY. R. with monthly payments of interest only. " The payment
would he $625 for eac h loan . The firs! letter stares tha t "should you decide to withdraw your
funds from your loan to us. wc will refund to you the full or partial requested amount to you
upon no less than sixty days notice." The second letter states that Perdue and Respondent
have agreed to a two- year term for the loan and that i f Perdue dec ided nnt to w ithdraw his
funds at that time. "we can renegotiate the terms for a poss ible extension."

Perdue received four timely interest payments of 15 percent before the payments
SLopped. Perdue would ca ll about twice each m on th and Respondent wo uld o ffer excuses.
Perdue has rece ived no paym ents since that lime and Respondent has not returned the
$100.000.
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THE TERRUSA TRANSACTION

:n. III February ~005 Respondent adv ert ised u manufacture d liomc fu r xulc ill till'
Su mm it Mobile Home Park in Canoga Park. 1\ flier tha t was distributed at the park reads
"For Salt: Han k Rcpo' and co ntains pi ctures. pricing and other information. The flicr directs
the reade r to rccycl edhom cs.com for more detai ls. Kath leen Tcrrusa and her husband Mi tch
were interested in purchasing the home. They contac ted Respondent. agreed to purchase till'
horne. and moved in. "I crrusa unde rstood. both from Respondent ' s representations and
informat ion on rccyclcdhou sing.curn. that a pri vate investor obta ine d by Respondent wou ld
he lending the money to purchase the home. T he record is not entirely clear, but it arr ears
thai the transa ction broke down over the amount of interest that would be charged. The flier
referen ces a monthly payment based upon 12 percent , hut Tcnusa testifi ed that Respondent
later demanded 14 percent. In any event , disputes arose and Respondent sued Tcrrusa in
small claims court. He won. she appealed, and he won the appeal. A ju dg ment was entered
in favor of Respondent for $6.443.48 plus $130 in costs.

34. It is not clear fro m the Accu sation, Complainant ' s Closing Brief, or any other
pleadings or statements by Complainant what the ev idence concern ing the Terrusa
transaction was offered to prove. Terrusa was not an investor in Respondent 's RH Note
Program - she was a buyer of a home. The evidence does not correspond to any of the
allegations and no restitution is requested on Tcrrusa's beha lf.

THE ELSA HA RDER MATI"ER

35. Evidence was received concerning Re spondent's dealings with the Harder
family in 2004. Under circumstances not clear in the recor d. C.R. Harder invested $XO.OOO
in a manufactured home located in the New England Village mobile hom e park. The buyers
stopped making payments at some point. It appears that some one in the mobile ho me park
referred Harder to Respondent for assistance. Hard er entered into an agreement with
Respondent that included foreclosure, eviction, removal of the existing home, replacement
with a newer hOITICand sail' o r the newer home. At some point before the matter was
resolved. C R. Harder died and his brother Edward Harder attempted to hel p C.R. I larder ' s
widow Elsa I larder deal with the situatio n.

Both Edward Harder and Kuyla M. Grunt. att orney for Elsa Harder. testified that
Respondent listed the replacemen t home at too high H price and that it has not sol d. Elsa
Ilarder Vias reported to be out ofthe country.

Similarly to the Tc rrusa matter. it was not clear what allegation in the Accusa tion this
evide nce was offered to prove. It was also not dem onstrated how Respondent's actions fell
within the purview of the Depart ment or Corporations.
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RI·:SPONI>!·NI"S !'(lSITION

16. A:,> Respondent failed to submit a closing argument, his position regarding the
allegations is drawn solely from his testimony and his examination of the witnesses.
Rcspondcnt'.s pr incipal contention is that his RII Note Progra m is not a security subjec t to
regul ation hy the Department. Acc ording to Respondent. " from 1997 until 2()()5. our firm
bought and sold more than 500 manufactured homes. The vast malori tv were purchased with
the idea of sciling them with financ ing in place: seller-carried financing:' Respondent
"warned up" with l.arry Kroeker in 1997. Kroeker wou ld locate the homes and Respondent
"would usc my contacts and expertise to get investors to purchase them:' After the purchase
"we would become both legal owner and registered owner if we held it long enough. hut
typically we wouldn't hold it that long. we would sell it to someone who would wa nt to live
there and carry the paper," Respo ndent esti mates that he had 40 investors. all or whom he
" knew intimately," who invested a total nfapproximutcly eight milli on dollars . Responde nt
explained that "we took our pro fit in the form of interest on the notes" and in most cases did
not charge a servicing Icc. He asserts that the only licensure he needed was as a real estate
broker and that he has such licensure.

Respondent appears to claim that all of the investo rs were fully inform ed of the risks
and benefits of the investment. lie also asserts that when investors inves ted through
retirement accounts. custod ians or trustees would be used and the rules were follo wed.

Respondent denies that he created a "m ortgage fund:' He asse rts that "the investors
did not invest in my business," rather. all of the clicrus funds were used to purchase homes.
This is clearly not the case. His bank records and other ev idence demonstrated that
Respondent pooled investor's funds in one bank accou nt and drew from the account various
purposes at his sale discretion. In some cases, the mon ey was never ass igned to a particular
home. Respondent' s bookkeeper testified repeatedly that the money raised from the
inves tors r aid for operating expenses. And further. payments rece ived on notes were not
always forwarde d to the investor.

37. Respondent deni es that he acted as an investme nt advisor after his cert ificate
was revoked in zono. He has not surrendered the original ccni fica tc because he has been
unable to locate it. He believes he last had an investment adv isory client in the mid- J990'5.
Similarly. Respondent denies that MBS has engaged in activiti es for which a broker-dealer
license is requ ired for many years. Respondent acknowledged having business cards on his
desk and using a letterhead "after I should have: '

38. It was difficult to discern Respondent' s posit ion regarding the remaining
al legations. Ill' see med not to understand the reco rd-keeping requirem ents and that the
Department has the authority to examine his records.

39. In his earl ier testimony. Respondent often denied detailed knowledge or the
existence of records concerning part icular investors and investments. Another answer he
gave was that the records were too voluminous. implying that this prevented compliance with
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reques ts to produce. Later in the proceedings. Respondent test ified that he employed
computer souwarc to keep track of the notes he serv iced. This included Quickltooks and
Moncure. /\ s referenced above. Respo ndent finally provided some access ttl these records to

Department exami ners during the hearing. These inc luded bank statements. deposit slips.
and lists of investors. The accuracy of 111;m)' of the doc uments. however. could not be
veri fied.

DISCUSSION

40. Res pondent is very experienced in the securities industry and is clearly a very
intelligent man. He also has specialized knowledge in related fie lds. su ch as insurance an d
real estate. And yet. Responden t ins ists that his RI-I Note Program is not a security. More
troubling. however. was h is insistence tha t all of his investors we re fu lly informed.
suffic iently sophisticated individ ua ls who assumed the risk of the investments he promoted.
This was clearly not the case .

The public interest requires that Respondent' s broker-dealer license be revoked: that
he be barred from the securities indust ry; and that he pay restitution to his former clients,
administrative penal ties. and costs . t.

4 1. Co unsel for Complainant declares she has spent at least 3 10.5 hours in
preparing for and presenting complainant ' s case and requests costs be awarded in the amount
of$32,2(IO. It is determined that this amount represents reasonable attorney ' s fees in this
matter .

LEGAL CONCLUSION S

llNLA WFUl. SAl.E OF SECU RITIES

I. It is unlawful in California for any person to offer or se ll any security ill an
issuer transaction unless such sale has been qualified or unless the transaction is exempt.
(Corp. Code. ~ 2511 D.) Respondent did not attempt to or succeed in quali fyin g any
securities 1"01' sale. Respondent con tends that the investment scheme he promoted, the RI-I
Note Program, did not encompass the offer or sail' of a security .

California de fines the term "se curity" broa dly . It means "any note; stock: trea sury
stock: membership in an incorporated or unincorporated associat ion: bond: debenture ;
evidence of indebtedness: certi ficate of interest or part ic ipa tion in any profit-sharing
agree ment; co llateral trust certi fica te: preorganizat ion ce rt ifica te or subscript ion: transferabl e
shurc: investment COI1\l';:H.:t : .•• or. in general . any interest or instrument commonly kn own
as a .sec urity' . .. .' (Corp . Code. ~ 25019. )

It is therefore clear that the legi slature intended notes and in vestment co ntrac ts to he
considered securit ies in Califo rn ia an d such des ignati on has been upheld by Cali forn ia
courts. (P('ople v. Leach ( 19:1 0) 106 CaI.App.441. 445 -450; People v. Walberg ( 1'iX9) 163
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Cal.App. 2d 2X6. 2X7-295.) Further. it is noted that the purpose of such a broad definition i:-.
" to protect the public against spurio us schemes. however ingeniously devised. to auruct risk
capital." (Sliver llills Countrv Club v, Sobieski (\96\ ) 55 Cal.Sd X1I . X14 .)

Respondent solicited capi ta l that he rep resented was to be used to purchase note s on
hchalfof investors. It was a scheme to attrac t risk capital. Respondent did not qualify the
sale and it was not exempt. (Findings l R through 32 and 36 lhrough 39.) It is therefore
concluded that Respondent sold unqualified sec urit ies in Ca lifornia in violation of
Corporations Code sec tion 25110.

MISREPRr~S I ~N· I· 1\Tl( lNS

') IL is unlawful in Cal iforn ia to make untrue statements ofmmcrial facts or to
omitmaterial facts when offering to sellar sel ling a security. (Corp. Code. ~ 25401 .)
Information is material if there is a substamial Iikcli hood that a reasonable investor would
consider it import ant in making a decis ion as lO whether or not to invest. (Insurance
Underwriters Clearing House, fnc., v. Natomas Co, ( 1986) 184 Cal.App.Sd 1520. 152(>.)

The evidence dem onstrated that Respondent made untrue stateme nts of material fact
and/or failed to pro vide material facts to investors on numerous occas ions in connection wi th
the sale o f securi ties to clients. For example, Respondent told certain investors thai their
money would he assigned to notes when it was not and fai led to tell certai n investors that
their money would be used to re furbi sh homes to be sold. (Findings 23 through 32.) I-Ie
therefore vio lated Corporations Code section 254 0 I.

UNLICENSED ACTIVITY AS INVESTMENT ADVISOR

3. In California. the term "investm en t advisor" includes persons who. for
compensation. engage in the business o f advisi ng others regarding the advisab ility of
investing in, purchasing, or selli ng securities. (Corp. Code, § 25009 .) Investment advisors in
Californ ia arc required to be licensed. (Corp. Code, § 25230.)

The evidence demo nstrated that Responden t co ntinued to act as an investment advisor
after his license was revok ed. He solici ted investors and. for compensat ion . advised them to
invest in h is RH Note program. (findings 23 through 32.) Respondent therefore violated
Corpora tions Code section 25230.

0 '1'1IER VIOLATIONS
- FA II.URE TO SURRENDER CERTIFI CATE FOLLOWING REVOCATION

4. Corporations Code section 25244 req uires the immediate surrender to the
Commissioner of an investment advisor ccni ficatc that has been suspended or revoked.
Respondent did not surrender M BlC5 investm ent adviser certificate to the Commissioner
following the revocation of the cert ificate in 2000 and thus violated Corporations Code
section 25244.
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FAILURi", TO MAINTAIN. PRESERVE. A ND DISCI.OSE HOOKS AND RECORDS

S. Licensed California brok er-dea lers arc subj ect to ex ami nat ions of their hooks
und records purs uant 10 Corporations Code section 25241 nnd its corresponding regulations.
Sect ion 25241 provides in pertinent part :

(a) Every broker-dealer ... licensed under Section 25210 shall
make and keep accoun ts. correspondence. memorandums.
papers. books and other records and sh a ll Jill' financ ial and oth er
reports as the commissioner by rule require s ....

(h) All records so required shall he preserved for the time
specifi ed in the full'.

(c) All recor ds re ferred to in this sec t ion an.' subj ect at any tim e
and from lime to time to reasonable peri odic. special. or other
examinations by the co mmissioner. within or without this state,
as the comm issioner deems necessa ry or appropriat e in the
public interest or for the protect ion of in vestors .

6. California Code of Regu lations, t itle 10, section 260 describes in detai l the
books and records that broker-dealers are required to ma intain. It provides:

(a) Every licensed broker -deal er sha ll mak e and kee p current
and accurate the follow ing books and records relating to its
bus iness. and provide the Commiss ioner or his or her des ignee.
complete access and op portunity to m ake copi es of:

(1) Blotters (or other records of orig in al entry) co ntaining an
itemized daily record or all purchases and sales 01" securities, all
receipts ami de liveries 01" xccurhics ( including certi ficate
numbers) , all recei pts an d disbursements o r ca sh and all ot her
debits and credi ts. Such records sha ll show the account for
which each s uch transaction was effected. tin.' name an d amount
of securities, the unit and aggregate purchase or sale price ( i f
any), the trade date, an d the name or ot her designation 01" the
person from wh om purchased or recei ved or to whom sold or
deli vere d.

(2 ) Ledgers (or other records) re flec ting all asset. liability,
income. expense. and capital accounts .

(.1) Ledger accounts (or other records) itemizing separately us to
each cash and margin account of cvcrv customer. and of such
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broker-dealer and partners thereof. all purchases. sales. receipts
and deliveries of securities for such account and all other debits
and credi ts to su ch account.

(4) Ledgers (or other records ) reflecting the foll owi ng:

(Il ) Dividends and interest received:

(C) Securit ies borrowed and secur ities loaned:

( D) Monies borrowed and monies loaned (toge ther wi th a record
of the co llate ral the re fore and any subst itutio ns in such
collateral):

(E) Securities failed to receive and failed to deliver: and

(v i) AU long and all short stock record diffe rences arising from
the examinat ion. count. verification and comp arison, pursuan t to
Rule 260.241.2 and Rule 260.241 .6 or tbcsc rules (hy dat e or
examination. count, verification and comparison sh owing for
each sec urity the number of shares long or sh ort co unt
di ffcrcncc).

(5) A securit ies record or ledger reflecting separately for each
security as of the clearance dates all " long" or ··shorf· positions
( including securities in safekeeping) carried by such broker­
dealer for its account or for the ac count of its cust omers or
partners and showing the location o f all securities long and the
offsett ing positions to a ll secur ities sho rt, includin g lon g,
security cou nt differences classi fied by th e date o f the physical
count and verification in wh ich they were discovered. and in all
cases the name or designat ion of the account in which each
posit ion is carried.

((1) A memorandum of each brokerage order. an d of any ot her
inst ructi on , given or received for the purchase or sale of
securities, whether ex ecuted or unexecuted. Suc h memorandum
shall show the term s and conditio ns of the order or instruct ions
and of any modifi ca tion or cancellation thereo f. the account for
which entered. the t ime of entry. the price at which executed
and. to the extent feasible. the time of execution or ca ncellation.
Orders entered pursuant to the exercise or a discretionary power
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by such bro ker-dealer. or any agent or employee thereof. sh all
be so designated.

l-or the purposes of this Clause (0), the fo llowing definitions
apply:

( i) "Instruction" includes instructions between partners, agents.
and employee s of a broker-dealer.

(ii) "Time of entry" means the time when such broker-dealer
transmits the order or instruction for execution or, if it is not so
transmitted, the lime when it is received.

(7) A memorandum of each purchase and sale of sec urit ies for
the account of such broker- dealer showing the price and, to the
extent feasib le. the time of execution: and, in addition, whe re
such purchase or sa le is with a customer other than a broker­
dealer. a mem oran dum of each order received showing the time
of receipt. the terms and conditions of the order. and the accoun t
in which it was entered.

unCopies of confi rmatio ns of all purchases and sales of
securities and copies of notices of all other deb its and credits for
securities. cash and other items for the account of customers and
partners of such broker-dealer.

(9) A record in respect of each cash and margin account with
such broker-dealer containing the name and address of the
beneficial owner of such account und, in the case of a margin
account. the signature or such owner; provided. how ever, that in
the case of a jo int acco unt or an account o f' a corporation, such
records arc require d only in respec t 01" the person or persons
authorized 10 transact bus iness for such account.

(10) A record of all puts, calls. spreads. straddles and other
options in which such broker-dealer has any direct or ind irect
interest or which such broker-dea ler has granted or guaranteed.
containing, at least. an identification or the security and the
number of units involved.

(II) A record of the proof of mo ney balances or all ledger
accounts in the form of trial balances and a record 01" the
computation of aggregate indebtedness and net capital as 01" the
trial balance date pursuant to Rule 151:3- J under the Securit ies
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Exchange Act of 19~4 (J 7 CF R 240. I5l':;- J): provided.
howe ver. that such computat ion nee d not he made by

(A) any broker-dealer unc ondi tionally exempt from Rule I)d-I
by subparagraph (h )( I ) or (h )(3) thereo f and

(B ) any. member in -good standinn- of a national sec urities
exchange who acts as a nom broker (and whose activities do not
req uire compliance w ith other pr ovis ions of Rulc 15cJ- I) an d
wh o elects to comply w ith the financ ial responsibi lity standards
orsubparagraph (h He) or Rule 15e3-1 : an d

(C) any broker-dealer elect ing Lo operate pursuant to subsection
(I) of Rule ISc3 -1. who shall make a record of the co mputatio ns
as set forth in said subsection ( I). Such trial balances and
computations shall he prepared currently at least once a month.

(12) A properly ex ecu ted Uniform Application for Securi ties
Ind ustry Registration or Trans fer Form (t'Form U-4") for each
agent emp loyed.

If such agent has been registered as a representat ive of su ch
broker-dealer or such person's employment has been approved
by the National Associ ation of' Securit ies Dealers Regulation.
Inc., or the New York Stock Exch ange. the American Stock
Exchange. or the Paci fic Exch ang e. Inc .. the retention of a full.
correct and co mpl ete copy of any an d all applicat ions for such
registrat ion or approval shall sat isfy the requirements of this
Clause (12) .

(13) A pro perly executed Uniform Termination Notice for
Securities Indust ry Reg istration (t'Form U-Y ') for each agent
terminated.

(14) A curren t copy of Form U-4 and (when appl icab le) Form
U-5 shall he maintained in th is stale at the location listed on
Form U·4 as the Office o f Employment.

(b)() This section docs not requi re a member of the New York
Stock Exchange . the American S ind Exchange. or the Pacific
Exchange, Inc. or a licensed broker-dealer who transacts a
bus iness in securities through the med ium or an) such mem ber
to make or keep such records or transac tions cleared for such
member or broker-deal er as arc customarily made an d kept by a
clearing broker-deal er pu rsuant to the requirements of paragraph



(<I ) of this section and of Sec tion 260.24 1.1 of these rules:
provided that the clearing broker-dealer has and mainta ins net
capita! of 1101 1::55 than £25,000 and is otherwise in compliance
with Rule 15e]-\ (17 eFR 240. ISc]-I ).

(2) This sect ion sh all not be deemed to requ ire a membe r of the
New York Stock Exchange. the American Stock Exchange, or
the Pacific Exchange. Inc.. or a licensed broker-dealer who
transects a business in securit ies thro ugh the medium of any
such member, to make or keep such records uf transactions
cleared for such member or broker-dealer by a bank as arc
customarily made and kept by a clearing brok er-dealer pursuant
to the requirements of' Sections 2M1. 24 J and 260.24 1.1 of these
rules. provided that such member or broker-dealer obtains fro m
such bank an agreement. in writ ing. to the effect that the re cords
made and kept by such hank an: the property of the member or
broker-dealer. and that such books and records arc available for
examination by representatives of the Commiss ioner as
specified in Section 2524 1 of the Code, and that it will furn ish
to the Commissioner, upon demand, at such place designated in
such demand. true, co rrec t, complete and current copies o f any
or all of such records.

Nothing here in contained shall he deemed to reli eve such
member or broker-dealer from the responsibility that such books
and records be accurate and maintained and preserved as
specified in Sections 260.241 and 260.~41.1 of these rules.

(c) Th is section docs not require a broker-dealer to make or keep
such record s as arc requi red by su bsection (a ) of this section
reflecting the sa le o f Un ited States Tax Sav ings Notes, Un ited
States Defense Savings Stamps. or United St ates De fense
Savings Bonds. Series E. F and G.

(d ) ·111(: records specified in subsect ion (a) of this section shall
110t be required with respect to any cash transaction or$1 00.00
or less involv ing only subscr iption rights or warrants which by
their terms expire with in 90 days alt er till' issuance thereo f

7. California Code of Reg ulat ions, title 10. section 260.24 1.1 describes in detail
the preservation requirements lor the books and records tha t broker-dealers are required to
maintain under section 260.241. It provides:

(a) Every broker-dealer shall preserve for a period of not less
than six years. the first two years of which shall be in an easily
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accessible place. all records requ ired to he made pursuant to
subsections (a)( I). (:!). (3) and (5) of Sect ion 260.241 of: these
rules.

(b) Evcrv brok er- dealer sh all preserve for a per iod of not less
than three years. the first two years or which sha ll he in an
easily accessible place:

(I) All records req uired to he made pursuan t [0 subsections
(a)(4 l. (1)). (7). (X). (9) and ( 10) o f Section 260.24 1 of these
ru les.

(2) All check books. hank statements. cancelled checks and cash
reconcil iations.

(3) 1\11 bills recei vab le or payab le (or co pies thereof). paid or
unpaid. relat ing lO the bus iness orthe broker-dea ler. as such.

(4) Or iginals of all communications received and copies or a ll
communications sent by the broker-dealer ( including inter­
office memoranda and communications) relating to its bus iness.
as such.

(5) 1\11 trial ba lanc es, computat ions of aggrega te indebtedness
and net capital (and work ing pape:-s in connection therewith).
financial statements . branch office reconciliations and interna l
audit working papers . relat ing to the bus iness of the broker­
dealer. as suc h.

(6) All guarantees oiaccounts and all powers of' attorney and
other evidence o f the granting oran y discreti onary author ity
given in respect of any account, and copies of resol utions
empowering an agent 10 act on behalf of a corporation.

(7) All written agreements (or co pies the reof) entered into by
the broker-dealer relating to its business as such. including
agreements with respect to any account.

(R) Records wh ich co ntain the fo llowi ng information in support
of amoun ts included in the Annual Report require d by Section
26 0.24 1.2('1) of these rules. or Ru le 17a-5(d) under the
Securities Exchan ge Act 01" 1'J34 (17 ClR 240.17a-5(d)) . ifthe
broker-dealer is exe mpt fro m the requirements of su bsection (a)
of Section 260.24 1.:2 hy virtue o f subsect ion (c) o f that section:
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(A) Mo ney balance posit ion, long or short including description.
quanti ty. pr ice and valuation ofeach sec urity including
contractual commitments in customers' accounts. in cash and
fully secured accounts. partl y secured accounts . unsecured
accounts and in securiti es accounts payable to cus tomers:

(H) Money balance and posi tion. long or short. including
description. quantity. price and valuation of each security
incl uding contractual co mmitments in noncustorncrs ' accounts.
in cash and fully secured accounts. part ly secured and unsecured
accounts and in sec urities accounts payable to noncustomcrs;

(C ) Position. long or short. including description. quant ity. price
and valuation of each security including contractual
co mmitments included in the Computation ofNet Capi tal as
commitments. securities owned. securities owned not read ily
marketable. and other investments owned not readily
marketable:

(D) Am ount of secured demand now , descrip tion of collateral
securing such secured demand note including quantity. price and
valuation o f each sec urity and cash balance securing such
secured demand note:

(E) Description of futures commodity contracts. contract va lue
on trade date. market va lue, gain or loss. and liquidating equi ty
or deficit in customers ' and noncustomers' acc ounts :

(J:) Descr iption o f futu res comm od ity co ntracts . contrac t value
on trade date, ma rket value. gain or loss and liqu idati ng equi ty
or deficit in trading and investm ent accounts ;

(G ) Description. money balance. quanti ty . price and valuation of
each spot commodity posit ion or commitments in customers'
and noncustomcrs ' accounts:

(ll) Descript ion. money balance. quantity. price and valuation of
each spot commodity pos it ion or com m itments in tra ding and
investment accounts;

(I) Number ofshares . dcscription of security. exercise pri ce.
cost and market value ofput and ca ll opti on s including short o ut
01" the.' moncy options hav ing no market or ex erci se value.
showing listed and unlisted put and call op tions separately:



(J) Quan tity. price. and valuation of each security underlying the
haircut for undue concentration made in the Computation for
Net Capital:

(K) Description. quantity . price and valuation or each security
and commod ity position or contractual commitment. long or
short. in eac h joint accoun t in which the broke r-dealer has an
interest. including each particip ant' s interest and margin
depos it;

(I.) Description. settlement date. contract amount. quantity .
marker price, and valuation for each aged failed 10 de liver
requ iring 11 charge in the Computation or Net Capita l pursuant to
Rule 1503- 1 (1 7 CF R 240. 1503- J»;

(M) Detail relating to informati on for possession or contro l
requirements under Rule 15c3-3 ( 17 e FR 240. ISc3- 3) and
repo rted on the schedule required by Section 260.24 J.2(a)( J) of
these rules;

(N) Detail of all items. not otherwise substantiated wh ich arc
charged or credi ted in the Computation of NeLCapital pursuan t
to Rule lSd -I . such as cash margin deficiencies. deductions
relate d to sec urit ies values and undu e con centration. aged
securi ties differences and insurance claims receivab le; and.

(0) Other schedules whi ch are speci ficall y prescribed by the
Co mm issioner as necessary to suppor t information reported as
required by Secti on 260.2 4 1.2(a) o f these rules.

(9) The reco rds requi red to be made pursuant to Rule ISd­
3(d)(4) unde r the Securities Exchange Act o f 1934 (17 CFR
240 . J 5e3-3( d)( 4)).

(c) Every broker-de aler sha ll preserve for a period of not less
than six yea rs after the clos ing of any customer's acco unt. any
account cards or records whic h relate to the terms and
conditions with respect 10 the ope nin g and maintenance of' suc h
account.

(d) Every broker-dealer shall preserve d uring the life of the
enterprise and of any successor enterpr ise all partnership articles
or. in the case of a corporation. all charter docu ments . min ute
hooks and stock certificate books.
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(c) Every broker-dealer shall ma intain and preserve in an easily
accessible place all records requ ired under subsection (iJ)( l::n of
section ::!60.241 otthcsc rules until at least three years after the
agent has terminated such person 's employment and an) other
connection with the broker-dealer.

(f) The records required to he maintained and preserved
pursuant to Sections 260.241 and 260 .241.1 of these rules may
be produced or reproduced on microfilm and be muintuined and
preserved for the required time in that form. Hsuch microfilm
substitut ion for hard copy is made by a broker-dealer. such
persoll shall

(I) at all t imes have av a ilable for ex amination by the
Co mmissio ner, the Co mmiss ioner's exam iners or other
rcprcscmuti vcs of the Co mm issione r its examination 01" such
person's records. pursuant to Section 25241 of the Code
fac ilities for immediate . easily readable projection of the
microfilm and for producing easily readable facs imile
enlargements.

(2) arrange the records and index and file the films in such a
manner as to permit the immediate location of any particular
record.

(3) be ready at all times to provide. and immediately provide.
any facsimile enlargement which the Commissioner, the
Commiss ioncrs examiner's or other representatives of the
Commissioner may request. an d

(4) store separate ly from the orig inal one other copy or the
mic ro film for the time required.

(g) If a person who has been subject to the requirements of
Section 260.241 of these rules ceases to hold a certificate as a
broker-dealer. such pl.:rson shall . for the remainder ofthe
periods of time spccificd in this Section. cont inue to preserve
the records which he theretofore preserved pursuant to this
section.

(h) If the records required to be maintained and preserved
pursuant to the provisions of Sections 260.241 and 260.241.1 of
these rules an.' prepared or maintained by an outside service
bureau. depository or bank wh ich does not operate pursuant 10

Section 2(,0.241 (b)(2) ofthcxc ru les, or other record-keeping



service on behalf of the broker-dealer requi red to maintai n and
preserve such records, such brok er -dealer shall ob tain from such
outside entity an agreement in writi ng, to the effect that such
records arc the property or the broker-dealer requ ired to

ma intain an preserve such records and that such hooks and
records arc ava ilable for examinat ion hy rcprescmat ivcs ofthe
Commissioner as specified in Section 25241 of the Code and
will be surrendered promptly on request hy the broker-denier or
the Commissioner,

Agreeme nt with an outs ide enti ty shall not re lieve such broker­
dealer from the responsibility to prepare and maintain records as
specified in this section or in Sect ion 260,241 of these ru les.

X. The evidence demonstrated that Respon den t violated Corporat ions emil'
section 25241 and Califo rnia Code of Regulations, tit le 10, sections 260.24 1 and 260.241.1.
(Findings 1(J and 17.) Respondents fa iled to comply wi th the hooks and records
requirements imp osed upon broker-dealers .

RI'.c!LII;ST TO REVOKE RESPON DENT' S BROKER-DEAI.ER CERTIFICATE

9. Corporations Co de sect ion 252 12 authorizes the Commissioner, following the
provision of appropriate due process. to revok e the certificate of a broker-deal er if it is
establ ished that. among other gro un ds . the broker-deal er has been hel d liable in a civil
judgme nt arising out of the sa le ofa security: has been s ubject to an NASD order: or has
violated any prov ision of the Californ ia Corporations Code and corresponding regu lations.

10. Th e evidence established that Respondent was hel d liable in a securit ies-
related civil judgm ent (Finding 29); was subject to an NASD orde r (F in dings 11 thr ou gh I)):
and has violated numerous statutory and regulatory provisions (Findings 16 through 32).
Respondent presented little de fense to the al legat ions , save his claim tha t what he was selling
was not a security. Further. numerous persons were harmed by Resp ondent ' s act ions.
Therefore. the public interest requires revocation of Res pon den t' s brok er-dealer cert ificate.

REQUEST TO BAR RESPONDENT FROM TIlE SECURITIES INDUSTRY

II . Corporations Code sec tion 252 13 authorizes the Commissioner. follow ing
provision of appropriate due pr oce ss, to bar a person from employme nt in the securit ies
industry if the Commissione r finds that such bar is in the public interest and that su ch person
has violated specifi ed provisions of section 25212, inc lud ing having been held liable in a
c ivil judgment arising out of the sale of a security : or hav ing been subject to an NASD orde r.

12. The evid ence established that Respondent was hcl d liable in a securities-
re lated civiljudgment and was subje ct to an NAS I) order. Further. Res pondent 's conduct in
connect ion with the IU I Note Program ca used sign ificam harm to his cli ents. Despite h is
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lengthy experience in the securities and re late d ind us tries, Respondent chooses to deny that
his inv estmen t sc heme falls wi th in the Commiss ioner's j ur isdic tion. He presents a th reat to
the public int erest by employment in the securities industry and cause therefore exists to bar
h im 11'0111 such employment.

DESIST AND RI~I:RI\J N

11 . The evidence establ ished that ca use exi sts to affirm th e Co mmissioner's Desist
and Refrain Order issued January 22. 2007.

1\!)MINIS'mATIVI; P EN I\ I ;n l ~S

14. Corporations Co de section 25252 authorizes the Commissioner to issue an
order levying administrative penalt ies against a broker-dealer for willful violations of any or
the securities laws or reg ulatio ns. Thc amo unts arc as follows: No more than $5,0 00 for the
first violation; no more th an $10.000 fo r the second violation; and no more than $15.000 for
each subsequent violation .

Ca use exists in th is m atter to levy admi nistr ative penalties . The amoun ts le vied are
ba sed upon a consi deration ofthe statutory m axi mums and all of th e fac ts and circ umstances
demonstra ted by the evidence.

15. Cause exists to levy admin istrative penalties pursuant to Corporations Code
sect ion 25252 as that sec t ion interacts w ith section 25241 (books an d reco rds m a intenance).
An appropriate penalty is $5.000 .

16. Cause ex ists to levy admin istrative pe nalties pursuan t to Corporations Code
sec tio n 25252 as that section int eracts with California Code of Reg ulati ons. t itle 10. section
2CJO.24 1 (make. keep and provi de books and records). I\n appropriate penalty is $1 ,000.

17. Cause exists to levy admi nis trat ive penal ties pursuant to Corporations Code
section 25252 as that sect ion interacts with Cali Cornia Cock of Re g ulations, title 10. section
2GO.241 .1 (preserve books and rec or ds). A n ap propriat e penalty is $1.000.

18. Cause exists to levy adm in istrative penalti es pursu ant to Corporations Code
section 25252 as that section interacts wit h section 25110 (unquali fied sale or securities). An
appropriate penalty is $S,()()(J .

19. Cause exists to levy administrative penalt ies pursuant to Corporations Code
section 25252 as that section inte racts with sect ion 25230 (acting as unlicensed investment
advisor). An appropriate penalty is $5.000.

20. Cause exists to levy administrative penalties pu rsuant to Corporations Code
sec tion 25252 as that sec tion interacts w ith section 25244 (Failure to surrender investment
adviso r's certificate). All appropriate penalty is $J .000.



21. Cause exists to levy administrative penalt ies pursuant to Corporations CO(k'
section ~525~ as that section interacts with section ~52401 (misrepresentations and
omissions of material facts). An appropriate penalty is $5 .000.

ANCII.LARY RELlEr
RESTITlITlClN

22. Corporations Code section 25254. subdivis ion (a). provides:

If the commission er determines it is in the public interest. the
com missioner may include in any administrative acti on bro ught
under this part a claim for ancillary relief, including, hut not
limited to, a claim Cot' restitu tion or disgorgement or damages on
bchal r of the persons injured by the act or practice constituting
the subject matter or the action. and the administ rat ive law judg e
shall have j urisdict ion to award additional reli ef.

Complainant requests restitution be ordered on behalf of Encdina Nadine Jacobs.
Jacqualyn Montgomery . and Joe Perdue. Cause exists for such ord ers and Respondent sha ll
be ord ered to pay restitution based upon the amount currently owed each inv estor and
interest at the legal rate since the date invested,

- COSTS

23. Corporat ions Co de sect ion 25:!54 . subdivision (b). pro vides:

In an administrative action brought under this part. the
comm issioner is en titled to recover costs. which in the
discretion of' the administrative law judge may includ e an
am oun t represent ing reasonable auorncy's fees and investigative
expenses for the services rendered . , , .

Cause exists to ord er Resp onden t to pay costs in the amount of $12.260.

ORDER

I. The Order to Cease and Des ist. signed by the Commissioner of Corporations
on January 2. 2007.2 is affirmed.

2. The broker-dealer certificate issued on May 13. 1985 . to Monterey Bay
Securities. Inc.. Kenneth Doolitt le, President. is revoked.

The Order is incorpo rated in full he rein by thi s reference .

26



, ,"
• • •

3. Kenne th Doolittle is burred h om empl oyment in the securities ind ustry in
acc ordance with the provis ions ofCorporations Cod e section 25213 .

4. Responden t shall pay restitution within 30 days orthe effect ive date nfthis
Decision as follows :

e. l incdina Nadine Jacobs: $ 121.X09 plus interest at the leila! rate commenci ng
Sep tember 9. 200 I :

b. .lacqualyn Montgomery: $23,16 1.62 plus interest at the lega l rate co mme nc ing
May 1. 200r" and

c. Joe Perdue: $]00.000 plus interest at till: legal rate since .I uly 1. :WOO.

5. Respondent shall pay administrative penalties totaling $ 23.000 to the
De partment of Corporations within 30 days of the effecti ve dale ofthi s dec isi on.

6. Respondent shall pay cost reco very in the amount of $32 .2(10 to the
Depa rtment of Corporat ions withi n 30 day s of the effecti ve date ofth is decision.

DATED: February 15.2008

'Mp\R Y-MAlt GARET ANDERSO N
Admi nis tra tive Law Judge
Office of Ad ministrat ive H earings
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